Chromatographic Reviews

© Elsevier Scientific Publishing Company, Amsterdam - Printed in The Netherlands

CHREV. 75

RNA FRACTIONATION ON HYDROXYAPATITE COLUMNS

R. M. KOTHARI*

Department of Microbiology, Indiana University, Bloomington, Ind. 47401 (U.S.A.) and

V. SHANKAR"

Department of Chemistry, University of Poona, Poona-7 (India) (Received April 8th, 1974)

CONTENTS

I. Introduction	40
2. Fractionation of RNA	45
A. Preparation of hydroxyapatite	
B. Fractionation	45
a. Low-molecular-weight RNA other than tRNA	45
b. tRNA	
i. Yeast	45
ii. Escherichia coli	45
c. rRNA	45
d. Viral RNA	
e. dsRNA	45
f. RNA-DNA hybrid	
i. Mycoplasma	45
ii. Neurospora crassa	
iii. Bacillus subtilis	
iv. Escherichia coli	45
v. Amphibia	45
vi. Aves	45
vii. Mammals	
g. Synthetic polynucleotides	
i. Adenylic acid polymers	
ii. Guanylic acid polymers	
3. Modifications and alternatives	
A. Modifications	
a. Elution at 18° in the presence of organic solvents	
b. Elution at lower temperature in the presence of perchlorate	
c. Elution at room temperature in the presence of 50% formamide	
d. Elution at 37°	
B. Possible modification	
C. Alternatives	
a. Ion-filtration chromatography	
b. Intervant dilution chromatography	
4. Theoretical considerations	46
4. Theoretical considerations	+0-

^{*} Present address: Physical Biochemistry Division, Naval Medical Research Institute, National Naval Medical Center, Bethesda, Md. 20014, U.S.A.

^{**} Present address: Institute für Biochemie, Biologische Bundesanstalt, 33 Braunschweig, Messeweg, G.F.R.

5.	. Advantages and limitations	. 465
	A. Advantages	. 465
	B. Limitations	. 466
6.	Basis of adsorption and resolution	
	A. Adsorption	. 468
	a. Basis of adsorption	. 468
	b. Mechanism of adsorption	. 469
	c. Relationship between conformation and strength of adsorption	. 469
	d. Factors affecting adsorption	
	B. Elution	470
	a. Stepwise versus gradient elution	. 470
	b. Choice of eluting agents	
	c. Choice of pH	
	d. Means of elution	
	e. Mechanism of elution	
	i. Effect of partial depolymerization	
	ii. Effect of differences in base composition.	
	iii. Effect of molecular size	
	f. Physical characteristics related to elution pattern	
7	Acknowledgement	
	Summary	
	eferences	

1. INTRODUCTION

Various chromatographic methods are employed for the resolution of different types of ribonucleic acids (viz., tRNA, rRNA, viral RNA, dsRNA, mRNA, RNA–DNA hybrid, etc.). These methods include the use of one or a combination of more than one ion exchangers and/or adsorbents: pure cellulose and different modified celluloses¹⁻³; Kieselguhr columns impregnated with different naturally available basic proteins and synthetic polyamino acids¹: different reversed-phase columns⁵; starch, agar and polyacrylamide gels⁶; DEAE-Sephadex and its modified forms⁷; and gels of inorganic origin such as silica gel, alumina gel and hydroxyapatite gel. The main objective of these methods has been to obtain a homogeneous entity of a particular type of RNA possessing a single biological function by sequential chromatography on a variety of these columns. Possibly the degree of heterogeneity will become even more evident as the methods of fractionation improve.

While the chemistry of nucleic acids was still in its infancy, different inorganic gels were utilized in the partial purification of enzymes and serum proteins^{8,9}. The applicability of calcium phosphate gel as an adsorbent in the preparative purification of enzymes by both batchwise operation and column chromatography was demonstrated¹⁰. Since the role of the nucleus as a centre of cell metabolic and physiological activities was established, various workers have shown interest in purifying DNA and DNase depolymerized products using calcium phosphate gel^{11,12}. With the background experience on the purification of proteins, it apparently seemed that (a) the preparation of hydroxyapatite columns from readily available materials was relatively easy and (b) DNA and its degraded products could be adsorbed and eluted under mild conditions of pH and ionic strength from such material¹².

With the increasing use of hydroxyapatite columns in the analysis of different molecular species of RNA, we thought it worthwhile to give a consolidated account of the use of this column, the biological significance of the separations achieved.

different modifications and alternatives which improve the resolution, its operational advantages, limitations and scope and the possible mechanism of separation. The fractionation of DNA from a broad range of sources, various environmental conditions that influence the elution patterns and the precautions that must be rigidly followed in order to obtain reproducible results have been reviewed extensively by many workers⁶, 13-19 and therefore will not be discussed here.

2. FRACTIONATION OF RNA

A. Preparation of hydroxyapatite

At least six to eight procedures have been described for the preparation of hydroxyapatite and these have been summarized by Bernardi¹³. Hydroxyapatite, which is calcium phosphate with small crystal dimensions, is also available commercially under two brand names: brushite [CaHPO, 2H.O] and hydroxyapatite [Ca₁₀(PO₄)₆(OH)₂] or hypatite C; brushite can be converted into hydroxyapatite by chemical treatment as discussed in detail by Bernardi¹³. De Lorenzo and Ames²⁰ found that hydroxyapatite prepared by the method of Siegelman et al.21 gave a much better flow-rate than a commercially available preparation obtained by Tiselius method¹³. Flow-rate is a very important factor, especially when the solution to be loaded is viscous. During the conversion of brushite into hydroxyapatite, if a low rate of stirring and gentle boiling are carefully maintained, the resulting adsorbent is free from aggregates, "fines" and incompletely converted brushite crystals; such a hydroxyapatite preparation has a high capacity, good flow-rate and reproducible chromatographic characteristics. Not only the above precautions must be rigidly observed during the preparation of hydroxyapatite, but sufficient care must also be taken to pack the column slowly, yet continuously, so that the adsorbent settles evenly within the column, with particles of uniform size. This method of preparation of the column ensured the reproducibility of subsequent results22. It was found that a freshly prepared hydroxyapatite gel stored at 4° for at least 3 months showed no significant variations in the elution pattern²³. The details of hydroxyapatite chromatography, such as packing and regeneration of the column, adsorption-elution and recovery of the adsorbate, have been disussed extensively by Barnardi¹³.

B. Fractionation

There have been far fewer investigations on the chromatographic separation of RNAs, synthetic polyribonucleotides, etc., than of DNAs using hydroxyapatite. This is particularly striking if one considers the multiplicity of secondary structures that exist among the natural and synthetic polyribonucleotides. However, it has recently been pointed out by Kohne and Britten¹⁶ that (a) the capacity of hydroxyapatite for the retention of RNA is less than that for DNA, (b) excess of RNA prevented binding of RNA-DNA hybrids and (c) in the presence of 8.0 M urea, only the hybrids could bind on to the column, whereas non-utilized RNA and single-stranded DNA were just retarded. In addition to these factors, a major obstacle in fractionation of RNA on hydroxyapatite is the apparent helical content of 40-60% of tobacco mosaic virus (TMV) RNA or rRNA²⁴. It was suggested that a high helical conformation leads to difficulties in separating different RNAs. By this time, it was already known that

under conditions of DNA resolution, tRNAs were eluted as a single peak²⁵. However, after extensive studies on the separation of native and denatured DNA, natural single-stranded DNA (ssDNA), the replicative form (RF) of DNA, synthetic polynucleotides and oligonucleotides, it was thought that by exploiting the secondary and tertiary structures, operational conditions for the optimal separation of RNAs on hydroxyapatite columns could be devised.

(a) Low-molecular-weight RNA other than tRNA

A low-molecular-weight RNA preparation from rat liver microsomes (for convenience called membrane RNA) was chromatographed on a hydroxyapatite column using a 0.02-0.2 M sodium phosphate buffer (pH 6.8) gradient²⁶. There was no separation between membrane RNA and marker tRNA and both species showed partial overlapping and considerable tailing, indicating that they might not be homogeneous species. The partially enriched membrane RNA exhibited unique properties: (i) it was not present in ribosomes prepared from microsomes by deoxycholate treatment; (ii) it comprised 15-20% of the total microsomal RNA; and (iii) like tRNA, it had a high G + C content; (iv) unlike tRNA, it had a low content of 3'-terminal adenosine residues, methylated bases and pseudouridine, and exhibited no acceptor activity. Gardner and Hoagland²⁶ presented evidence to indicate that membrane RNA was neither 5S RNA nor a degradation product of high-molecular-weight RNAs.

In another study, 5S RNA from wheat germ, shown to be homogeneous by gel filtration and polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis, gave three peaks corresponding to mono-, di- and triphosphate at the 5'-terminal group²⁷. This novel ability of hydroxyapatite to fractionate 5S RNA on the basis of degree of phosphorylation at their 5'-terminal group was further exploited in order to investigate the pattern of 5'-phosphorylation of 5S RNA from diverse sources²⁸. At the conclusion of these studies, the most striking generalization observed was that 5S RNA from prokaryotic organisms (Escherichia coli, Pseudomonas fluorescens, Streptomyces argenteolus, Euglena gracilis and Saccharomyces cerevisiae) contained only 5'-monophosphates, while in contrast the 5S RNA from eukaryotic organisms (Triticum vulgare, liver of female Wistar rats and reticulocytes of New Zealand white rabbits) contained 5'-mono-, -di- and -triphosphate molecules. However, whether the extent of 5'-terminal phosphorylation contributed to the differences in conformation due to alterations in the charge density was not clear from these studies.

Low-molecular-weight nucleolar RNAs (distinct from tRNA, 5S RNA and 28S associated 7S RNA) obtained from Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) cells could be adsorbed on to and eluted from negatively charged bentonite, provided that they contained residual protein²⁹. However, pure RNAs alone were not adsorbed. As a close similarity exists between bentonite and hydroxyapatite, it is probably worth investigating whether such a phenomenon occurs in hydroxyapatite chromatography.

(b) iRNA

⁽i) Yeast. The first attempt to fractionate yeast tRNAs met with a limited success, as all the tRNAs were eluted with 0.13 M phosphate buffer (pH 6.8)³⁰. However, using a phosphate buffer (pH 5.4) gradient, Dirheimer³¹ obtained a good resolution of aspartyl-, lysyl-, arginyl- and phenylalanyl-tRNAs. The limited success reported by Bernardi²⁰ was possibly due to use of conditions that had been optimised

for DNA fractionation rather than for RNA fractionation. This explanation seems reasonable as altered conditions lead to extensive fractionation of RNA^{31–33}.

As with a methylated serum albumin-Kieselguhr (MAK) column⁴, a hydroxyapatite column fractionated 5-fluorouracil-containing tRNA (FU-tRNA) from their normal counterparts³⁴. Thus, glycyl-, lysyl- and phenylalanyl-tRNAs from yeast were enriched. It was noted that FU was incorporated more into tRNA than into rRNA and the site of incorporation was largely uracil (U), and to some extent pseudouridine, ribothymidine, etc. The substitution of FU in place of U to the extent of 65% might have altered the conformation of tRNA as judged by melting profiles and possibly reflected in hydroxyapatite chromatographic separation³⁴.

(ii) Escherichia coli. Bernardi²⁵ reported the elution of $E.\ coli$ tRNA from a hydroxyapatite column with 0.13 M phosphate buffer (pH 6.8) without resolution into different species or isoacceptor species. In contrast, Hartmann and Coy³⁵ used a hydroxyapatite column (93 \times 3 cm) for the preparative fractionation of tRNA by stepwise elution with potassium phosphate buffer (pH 6.8). Of the several fractions eluted in the concentration range 0.05–0.16 M, characterization of threonyl-, valyland phenylalanyl-tRNAs showed that valyl-tRNA was purified twelve times. In further studies³⁶, the reproducibility of results could be verified by re-chromatography. With either stepwise or gradient elution and by modifying the conditions of elution, fractionation of isoacceptor species of threonyl-, valyl- and phenylalanyl-tRNAs was achieved.

Pearson and Kelmers²² achieved a distinct fractionation and enrichment of several species of *E. coli* tRNA using a linear gradient of 0.1–0.2 *M* sodium phosphate buffer (pH 6.8) and a flow-rate of 12 ml/h. While two peaks of isoleucyl-, tyrosyl- and phenylalanyl-tRNAs were obtained, five peaks of leucyl-tRNA and multiple peaks of alanyl-, seryl- and prolyl-tRNAs were resolved. Pearson and Kelmers²² claimed that the position of elution of several tRNAs on the chromatogram could be predicted from the shape of the absorbance curve, and this prediction could be subsequently confirmed by examining acceptor activities. Using this procedure, Schofield³⁷ attempted to separate methionyl- and formylmethionyl-tRNA. Although the presence of at least two species of each of formylmethionyl- and methionyl-tRNA could be demonstrated on the chromatogram, the separation had two major drawbacks: (i) species of methionyl- and formylmethionyl-tRNA overlapped and (ii) the quantitative variations in different species of methionyl-tRNA were so high that sometimes the fourth peak could not be detected.

While examining the optimal conditions for tRNA fractionation, Muench^{17,38} observed that aminoacyl-tRNAs have increased stability on hydroxyapatite columns at pH 5.8 rather than at the pH value of 6.8 that was established for the optimal resolution of DNAs. He compared the three peaks of leucyl-tRNA eluted with a potassium phosphate buffer gradient (pH 5.8) at 4° with the five peaks of leucyl-tRNA obtained by partition chromatography. It was decided that leucyl-tRNA₁ from hydroxyapatite corresponded to leucyl-tRNA₁ from the partition column, leucyl-tRNA₁ to leucyl-tRNA₁ and -tRNA₁. This result indicated that either the hydroxyapatite column has a lower resolving ability or the optimal conditions of resolution were still to be developed. In further studies³², it was found that with a prior purification by partition chromatography, alanyl-, leucyl-, valyl- and methionyl-tRNAs could be resolved into multiple peaks

and purified to 80-90% homogeneity on a hydroxyapatite column. Thus, the major species of valyl-tRNA (valyl-tRNA_{II}) was further purified by repeated chromatography at pH 5.8 and 6.8 (ref. 39). The chromatographic profiles were similar, irrespective of aminoacylation³², and the phosphate buffer gradient (pH 5.8) permitted the recovery of tRNAs without undergoing deacylation as observed in certain reversed-phase chromatographic columns⁵.

An interesting series of observations was made by Muench^{10,41} in an attempt to fractionate tryptophanyl-tRNA: (i) non-aminoacylated tryptophanyl-tRNA was eluted as a single peak from the hydroxyapatite column with an increasing concentration gradient (0.15-0.50 M) of potassium phosphate buffer (pH 5.8) and a flow-rate of 30 ml/h; (ii) aminoacylated tryptophanyl-tRNA was eluted as two peaks under experimental conditions similar to those employed for the non-aminoacylated sample: (iii) the two peaks corresponded to an active form (eluted early) and an inactive form (eluted late) of tryptophanyl-tRNA; and (iv) in contrast, partition chromatography vielded three to five peaks of tryptophanyl-tRNA^{12,13}. In further studies, both forms of tryptophanyl-tRNA could be purified to homogeneity (specific activity 1.8 nmoles per A₅₀₀) by repeated chromatography on BD-cellulose and final chromatography on hydroxyapatite. The conditions for purification had to be altered in that the elution was carried out by gradient elution of 0.1-0.4 M potassium phosphate buffer (pH 5.4) at 4° and a flow-rate of 16 ml/h (ref. 44). As with the MAK column, the hydroxyapatite probably purified these forms on the basis of conformational differences (arising out of aminoacylation) rather than on the basis of repulsive interaction between the tryptophanyl residue and hydroxyapatite. Muench⁴¹ considered that the hydroxyapatite column does not separate tRNAs primarily on the basis of hydrophobic character, as in BD-cellulose or reversed-phase chromatography^{3,5}. A possible reason for the failure to resolve two forms of non-aminoacylated tryptophanyl-tRNA might be that they exist in equilibrium at pH 5.8 (ref. 41).

The effects of pH, the shape of the phosphate gradient and the presence of a substance such as urea or a low percentage of alcohol still remain to be studied in order to establish whether they could be exploited to optimize the resolution of various tRNA species.

(c) rRNA

By using an increasing concentration gradient of phosphate buffer, Burness and Vizoso⁴⁵ fractionated Krebs-2 ascites tumour rRNA at room temperature into two fractions eluting at 0.07 and 0.11 M, respectively. The fractions corresponded to peaks in the ultracentrifuge Schlieren pattern which had S₂₀ values of 18S and 30S, respectively. However, the position of elution of these species was contradicted in work⁴⁶ in which Ehrlich ascites tumour (EAT) high-molecular-weight RNA was eluted into two major peaks at 0.15 and 0.20 M phosphate buffer (pH 6.8), corresponding to 19S and 32S, respectively. In our opinion, the elution of rRNA at as low a concentration of phosphate as 0.07 M is possibly an artifact of isolation. This view is further supported by the elution profiles of rRNAs from yeast, E. coli and other sources^{13,47}. In all instances, rRNAs from both prokaryotes and eukaryotes were eluted at a considerably higher phosphate molarity than that observed by Burness and Vizoso⁴⁵. Their observation that fluctuations in temperature or changes in the physical state of RNA did not influence the profiles no longer holds true. The degra-

dation of RNA (decrease in sedimentation coefficient) observed as a result of passage through the column¹⁶ might be due either to disaggregation of the already aggregated species of RNA or to latent RNAse activity associated with rRNA, rather than to inherent drawbacks associated with the hydroxyapatite column. In fact, the S values obtained (19 and 32) do not indicate degradation. Furthermore, Brown *et al.*⁴⁸ obtained good recoveries of infectivity of foot and mouth disease viral (FMDV) RNA and other viral RNAs after passage through the column. Finally, no change in the structure of rRNA was detected, even after several passages through the column⁴⁹.

In another study, rat liver mitochondrial RNA was separated from DNA by differential elution at room temperature⁵⁰, when presumably the rRNA was eluted at 0.18 M and DNA at 0.4 M phosphate buffer (pH 6.8) concentration. Elution of rRNA and high-molecular-weight viral RNAs as two discrete peaks by stepwise elution and as only one peak by gradient elution has been reported by Bernardi¹³. This discrepancy in the observations as a result of a change in the method of elution indicated that either the gradient elution could not separate viral RNA from rRNA, as noted by Franklin⁵¹, or stepwise elution in this instance afforded extraordinary resolution, as pointed out by Sueoka and Cheng⁵² in studies with MAK columns. However, the significance of the elution obtained by stepwise elution has to be treated with caution as it has been a general complaint that stepwise elution generates spurious or false peaks on hydroxyapatite columns.

Total RNA from fresh tobacco leaves yielded three fractions, of which the first eluted showed amino acid acceptor activity, while those eluted at higher molarities corresponded to rRNAs⁵³. However, upon alfalfa mosaic virus infection, this elution pattern changed quantitatively and yielded a fraction that was eluted at high molarity (possibly with a different secondary structure) and represented about 0.4% of the total RNA (which was afterwards characterized as RI).

(d) Viral RNA

Vizoso and Burness⁵⁴ were the first to attempt to separate infectious RNA from the bulk of the cellular RNA. There was no difference in the elution profiles of RNA from non-infected (i.e., Krebs-2 ascites tumour) and 6 h-infected (i.e., Krebs-2 ascites tumour infected in vitro with encephalomyocarditis virus) cells, indicating that the RNA species responsible for infectivity might be present in relatively low concentration. However, there were marginal differences in the elution profiles of RNA from the non-infected and the 24 h-infected cells. Although there was no clear separation of the infectious species from the cellular RNA, the studies established the usefulness of the hydroxyapatite column in that (a) it has appreciable capacity for RNA (3 mg RNA per millilitre of packed column) and (b) it accounted for 95% recovery. It was found that the optimum Ni2+ concentration needed in order to stabilize the infectivity of RNA was one Ni² ion per nucleotide residue, a value already demonstrated for stabilizing the infectivity of TMV RNA55. Passage of FMDV RNA vielded two peaks and their characterization revealed that infectivity was associated with the late-cluting peak48. It appears that the early-cluting peak represents degradation products, which probably arise during the isolation procedure. Single-stranded RNA (ssRNA), synthesized in vitro by wound tumour virus (WTV)associated RNA transcriptase, has been purified from viral double-stranded RNA (dsRNA) by differential elution with phosphate buffer at 60° (ref. 56).

(e) dsRNA

The first attempt to purify the replicative intermediate (RI) of the bacterio-phage R₁₇ using the hydroxyapatite procedure developed by Bernardi and Timasheff⁴⁶ was unsuccessful, as RI was cluted with rRNA⁵¹. However, by employing a hydroxyapatite column at high temperature. Bishop *et al.*⁵⁷ purified and characterized polio virus specific dsRNA. Bockstahler⁵⁸ purified RI from turnip yellow mosaic virus (TYMV)-infected cabbage plants, in milligram amounts. It was found that in conjuntion with the MAK column, a hydroxyapatite column could be used to purify RI to homogeneity by using a gradient elution of 0.05–0.4 M phosphate buffer (pH 6.7) at 35°. This procedure gave higher recoveries on the hydroxyapatite column (90–95%) than on the MAK column (50–70%), and hydroxyapatite exhibited a 50-fold greater capacity for RI as determined with ssRNA. In another study, comparison of the chromatographic profiles revealed that the order of elution with potassium phosphate buffer (pH 6.8) was tRNA (0.13 M), rRNA (0.25–0.30 M) and RI (above 0.30 M) from alfalfa mosaic virus-infected tobacco leaves⁵³. Further studies led to the purification of RI without prior treatment with RNAse⁴⁹.

Bishop et al.⁵⁹ attempted to purify the polymerase product of Rous sarcoma virus (RSV) with limited success, using conditions (high temperature, stepwise elution) that eliminated the helical content of ssRNA. They considered that analysis on a hydroxyapatite column could be misleading unless the state of template RNA was monitored concomitantly with the DNA analysis. In contrast to these considerations, more recently a procedure consisting in a stepwise increase in phosphate buffer concentration as well as temperature, has been introduced⁶⁰ for the separation of ssRNA from dsRNA with 96-100% recovery: at 60° and 0.1 M phosphate buffer oligonucleotides and a small amount of ssRNA were eluted, at 90° and 0.1 M phosphate buffer the remaining ssRNA was eluted, and finally at 90° and 0.3 M phosphate buffer all of the dsRNA was eluted⁶⁰. A combination of a temperature and a salt gradient also facilitated the separation of RNA polymerase product from viral dsRNA of cytoplasmic polyhedrosis virus⁶¹, and from viral dsRNA of wound tumour virus⁵⁶.

The stability of dsRNA on the hydroxyapatite bed has been ascribed to the effect of physical immobilization in the adsorbed state⁶² rather than to the effect of electrostatic forces⁶³. Furthermore, in contrast to the analogy suggested by Bernardi¹³ that the separation of ssRNA from dsRNA is equivalent to the separation of denatured DNA from native DNA, Martinson19 found that both dsRNA of average base composition and RNA-DNA hybrids have a lower affinity than dsDNA (native DNA) for hydroxyapatite. Martinson attributed these differences in affinity towards hydroxyapatite to variations in the backbone conformations of these nucleic acids; the phosphates of dsDNA protrude from the helix, whereas those of dsRNA and RNA-DNA hybrids are relatively hidden and very few loci are available for binding between dsRNA and hydroxyapatite. Further, dsRNA also differed from dsDNA in the temperature dependence of its elution molarity. It is interesting that RNA-DNA hybrids were chromatographed in an essentially similar manner to dsRNA rather than being intermediate between dsRNA and dsDNA. It is not clear why dsRNA and RNA-DNA hybrids have their maximum elution molarities at a higher temperature than dsDNA.

(f) RNA-DNA hybrid

Many studies in molecular and developmental biology would be greatly facilitated if it were possible to isolate the desired segments of the genome of higher organisms. Because of the differences in buoyant densities between RNA and DNA, equilibrium density centrifugation has obviously been a method of choice for the enrichment of RNA-DNA hybrids and has been used for this purpose by a number of workers. However, as a routine preparative method, this technique is severely limited in both capacity and cost. According to Brenner et al. 61, hydroxyapatite column chromatography should be the method of choice for isolating RNA-DNA hybrids, because (i) it does not require immobilization of unlabelled DNA, as required in other methods^{65,66}, (ii) it has a reasonable capacity to retain RNA-DNA hybrids and has a reasonable cost of operation, and (iii) the percentage binding of labelled to unlabelled nucleic acid is greater in the free solution on hydroxyapatite (75-95%) than on agar gel (20-40%) or on nitrocellulose (NC) filters (70%). For re-association studies, however, hydroxyapatite column chromatography can be replaced by batchwise procedures, as the former is time consuming and only one or two columns can be operated simultaneously, whereas ten or more samples could be processed by a batchwise procedure or by using NC filters. Hence hydroxyapatite chromatography has been considered to be suitable either for the isolation of a fraction of genome specific for a particular kind of RNA or for the relative enrichment of RNA for the desired genes.

- (i) Mycoplasma. The partial purification of native rRNA and tRNA cistrons from Mycoplasma sp. (Kid)⁶⁷ and Mycoplasma laidlawii⁶⁸ has been achieved after hybridization and separation on hydroxyapatite columns.
- (ii) Neurospora crassa. DNA sequences that code for tRNA in N. crassa have been isolated in a highly purified state by repeated hybridization⁶⁹ between a DNA fragment and tRNA and then by fractionation of DNA-tRNA hybrid from non-hybridized DNA and excess of tRNA by differential elution with a linear gradient of phosphate buffer (pH 6.8) at 60°.
- (iii) Bacillus subtilis. rRNA genes of B. subtilis have been isolated by passage through the column when renatured (self-annealed) DNA formed during hybridization was eluted after the elution of RNA-DNA hybrid⁷⁰⁻⁷². The removal of renatured or partially renatured DNA from the hybrid was important, as a substantial amount of renatured DNA banded with RNA-DNA hybrid during caesium sulphate-Hg² density gradient centrifugation. Denatured ssDNA could be removed either by passage through the column (before or after DNAse treatment to which the RNA-DNA hybrid is resistant) or by the differential density technique. Further experiments revealed that a relatively larger percentage (in comparison with mammalian genome) of the B. subtilis genome was transcribed in its exponentially growing stage⁷³.
- (iv) Escherichia coli. The annealing product formed between phage T₂-infected E. coli DNA and complementary RNA was separated with a linear gradient of phosphate buffer. The three fractions, in order of elution, were ssDNA, RNA-DNA hybrid and renatured DNA non-specifically complexed with a negligible amount of RNA. It was also found that RNA from phage T₂-infected E. coli could be resolved into two fractions; the easily eluted ³²P-labelled RNA probably represented T₂ mRNA, while the late-eluting RNA corresponded to cellular high-molecular-weight RNA⁷⁴. In another study, DNA sequences that code for rRNA were purified by

selective elution with 0.14 M phosphate buffer at high temperature⁷⁵. Direct comparison of the rRNA cistrons, thus enriched, from E. coli, Proteus mirabilis and Salmonella typhimurium showed that rRNA cistrons of these organisms were very similar to each other and apparently were conserved⁷⁵. These studies revealed that the hydroxyapatite column can be useful (i) to measure the kinetics of re-association of different nucleic acid species, (ii) to isolate repeated nucleic acid sequences and (iii) to determine the extent of complementarity between nucleic acids derived from different species¹⁶.

- (v) Amphibia. By using differential elution at constant temperature, Davidson and Hough⁷⁶ separated amphibian RNA-DNA hybrid formed between the non-repetitive DNA from Xenopus red blood cells and doubly labelled RNA from the lamp-brush stage of the oocyte of Xenopus.
- (vi) Aves. McConaughty and McCarthy⁷⁷ fractionated RNA cistrons from embryonic chicken red blood cells using a thermal gradient. At 0.12 M phosphate buffer concentration and at 90.95 and 100°, three fractions differing in average G+C content were eluted in the proportions 20:51:29. The segment of chromatin active in RNA synthesis exhibited a low dissociation temperature (T_m) and was enriched independent of the RNA-DNA hybridization procedure⁷⁷.
- (vii) Manuals. Studies on the separation of model hybrids prepared by enzymic transcription on to mouse ssDNA or hybrids of DNA with RNA synthesized on a mouse native DNA primer in vitro⁷⁸ revealed that (i) elution of RNA-DNA hybrid was dependent upon the relative amounts of RNA and DNA in the hybrid and the degree of double strandedness, (ii) the best separation could be achieved with a hybrid with a high RNA:DNA ratio, (iii) hybrids with a low RNA:DNA ratio were eluted throughout the gradient because DNA strands were too long relative to the RNA molecule and (iv) hybrids with a high RNA:DNA ratio were eluted near to the elution molarity of dsDNA. Further, it was suggested that a high temperature (70) was useful for the isolation of hybrids of high complementarity, while the recovery of hybrids of low complementarity could be improved by eluting at lower temperatures and by taking precautions to exclude heavy metal ions. It was realized that polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis particularly on a preparative scale has been an asset to hybridization studies as it affords the isolation of RNA species of high purity and in high yields.

RNA cistrons were isolated from the brain, liver, kidney and spleen of mouse by following the procedure used in the enrichment of avian RNA cistrons⁷⁷, and the proportion of the genome transcribed in these different organs was estimated by hybridizing purified RNA cistrons with excess of RNA. Saturation hybridization values for liver, kidney and spleen were of the order of 4–5%, but for brain they were as high as 11%. In another study, the degree of hybridization as a function of aldosterone administration in adrenalectomized rats was studied by comparing the profiles of RNA-DNA hybrid before and after the treatment. While there was a specific increase in the hybridization between kidney cortex nuclear RNA and repetitive DNA, no such increase in the hybrid-forming capacity between repetitive DNA and microsomal RNA or tRNA was observed⁸¹.

Chromosomal RNA, which is characterized by its short chain-length (40-60 nucleotide residues), high content of dihydrouridylic acid (8-10 mole%) and its association with the chromatin in higher organisms, could be purified in the form of

RNA-DNA hybrid with homologous or heterologous DNA by differential elution; at a constant buffer composition, unhybridized RNA was eluted between 25° and 40°, denatured DNA was eluted at 80° and the hybrid was eluted at higher temperatures⁸². Two interesting points shown by these studies were that (i) hybridization takes place to equal extents with homologous native and denatured DNA and (ii) chromosomal RNA, unlike mRNA, possesses the ability to interact and bind to native DNA, a property which is not applicable to other RNA molecules.

Recently, a simple and reproducible method, consisting in hybridization with poly-U followed by chromatography on hydroxyapatite, has been devised for the separation of mRNA and heterogeneous nuclear RNA (hnRNA), both of which contain long stretches of polyadenylic acid (poly-A)s3. By this method, it was found that all mRNAs of mouse L-cells contained poly-A, with the exception of histone mRNA. A similar analysis of hnRNA indicated that only one fifth of these contained poly-A. A similar procedure, using MAK columns in place of hydroxyapatite columns, has been developed in our laboratorys1 for the purification of sea urchin oöcyte mRNA hybridized with [3H]poly-U.

Murine sarcoma viral (MSV) DNA annealed with RNA from MSV-transformed cells was retained at 0.12 M and eluted at 0.40 M phosphate buffer concentration⁸⁵. Haapala and Fischinger⁸⁶ reported that each of six mammalian C-type viruses, including two feline leukaemia viruses, three murine leukaemia viruses and the human "candidate" virus RD-114, could be distinguished from each other on the basis of hybridization of viral RNA with DNA synthesized by viral reverse transcriptase. Characterization of these hybrids on a hydroxyapatite column revealed the diversity in the nucleotide sequences among the viruses, as judged by the percentage of cross-hybridization and by the decreased thermal stability of heterologous hybrids.

(g) Synthetic polynucleotides

(i) Adenylic acid polymers. Calcium phosphate preparations obtained at different pH values and subsequently modified by heat or treatment with alkali have been investigated for their suitability as adsorbents for the fractionation of polynucleotides. One such preparation of calcium phosphate, precipitated at pH 6.7 and boiled with a saturated solution of calcium hydroxide, was found to possess the desired chromatographic characteristics of an adsorbent and was used to separate poly-A from DNA using gradient elution with phosphate buffer (pH 7.0)⁸⁷. Partial separation of poly-A from TMV RNA and DNA has been reported by Bernardi¹³. He also found that non-alternating poly-(dA-dT) has a higher elution molarity than the alternating poly-(dAT-dAT), which was eluted close to yeast nuclear DNA¹³.

In a study⁸⁸ with an increasing concentration gradient of phosphate buffer (pH 6.8), yeast RNA, yeast nuclear DNA and poly-(ADP-ribose) [a polymer of 2'-(5"-phosphoribosyl)-5'-AMP] were successively eluted at 0.16, 0.23 and 0.31 M. The fact that poly-(ADP-ribose), with a chain length of 18–22 nucleotide residues, was eluted at 0.31 M indicated that molecular weight (molecular size) might be of subsidiary importance in determining the sequence of elution. Bernardi³⁰ also arrived at a similar conclusion by observing that poly-A which possessed a single-stranded helical structure at neutral pH was eluted at the same molarity as double-stranded polynucleotide.

Niyogi and Thomas⁸⁹ investigated the chromatographic characteristics of com-

ment given prior to chromato-

graphy

		•
	JOLEOTIDES ON HYDROXYAPATITE COLUMNS	The state of the contract of t
	Ź	:
	⊒.	
	8	21.00
	끌	441.0.144
	E	*****
	$\stackrel{\sim}{=}$	
	$\stackrel{\sim}{\sim}$	
	2	
	Ξ	
	\equiv	
	S	
	SS	
	$\stackrel{\cap}{=}$	
	5	
	3	
	\bar{z}	
	Ĉ	
	\equiv	
	<u>``</u>	
	2	
	21	
	\equiv	
	Z	
	S	
	Ë	
	2	
	=	
	≒	
	=	:
	9	•
	=	•
	Č	;
	2	-
<u> </u>	ELITION PROFILES OF DIFFERENT SYNTHETIC POLYRIBONUCLEOTIDES ON HYDROXYAPATITE COLUMNS	
=======================================	Ξ	-
<	Ξ	:

Polymeleotide	Malarity of elution Temperat with phosphate buffer of elution (p.116.8)	Temperature of elution (°C)	Structural characteristics at the paint of clution	Recovery (%)	General remarks	References
Poly-U	0,15		Partial helical secondary		Only poly-U cluted	26,16
•	•		structure			
Poly-U	0,10	-	completely devote of secondary structure	È		
Poly.C	0.12-0.13	-1		001		-
Poly.C	0,12	27	1 1 1 1	8		S. :
Polv-1		27		Poor	Irregular profiles	2:
Poly-A	0,22-0,25	7.7	Random structure with respect	08	Elution as broad peak	<u></u>
			structure with respect to short-			
			range interactions ^{na}		•	•
Poly.U.	0,05	27	Devoid of secondary structure	00	Elution at lower molarity than	<u> </u>
•	•		equitable to operations for Educated	001	untreated poly-O	30
Poly-C	0.12	-1	Devoid of accondaly actualities	3	tive of secondary structure	
Poly-A	0,17	27	Devoid of secondary structure	100	Elution at lower molarity than	0£
					untreated poly-A	0
Poly-1	0,16	27	Devoid of secondary structure	<u>S</u>	-1-:	30
Poly-A-Poly-U 0,23-0,26	0,23-0,26	27	Double stranded	<u>2</u>	***	30
Poly-A-2-Poly-	U 0,45-0.50	27	Triple stranded	95	deas.	ų,
Polv-1-Polv-C	0.20	27	Double stranded	8		Ď. 6
Poly-r(G-C),	0.10	08	Partial helical, Tm = 92° in	e Fi	nother slight containation	2
			•		due to poly-["lil-r(1-c)"	00
Poly-[aH]-r(1-C)," 0,10	0,10	70-75	Furtial Edical, $T_m = 49.5^{\circ}$ in 0.01 At Na ⁺	6	Partially cluted at 80	2
Daty (ADD-ribos) 0.31	10 July 21			801	Poly-(ADP-ribose) with a long	88
with total dial	12.6.) Mari	1			chain length is readily separated	
					from RNA and DNA; with a	
					moderate chain length, separation	
					from RNA and DNA is facili-	
					tated if RNase and DNase treat-	

* Additional treatment given to the sample before leading on to the column at 27°; heating at 100° for 5 min in 0.01 M potassium phosphate buffer (pH 6.8) containing 1.0°% neutral formaldehyde; immediate cooling in ice-bath; elution buffer also contained 1.0°% neutral formaldehyde.
** Additional treatment given to the sample before loading on to the column at 60; heating at 100° for 5 min in 0.1 M potassium phosphate buffer (pH 6.8) containing 0.0001 M EDTA.

plexes formed between defined oligoadenylic acid and polyuridylic acid (poly-U) as a function of temperature. In contrast to the above studies^{30,88}, they found that the temperature of elution was a function of the chain-length (molecular weight), the presence of Mg²⁺ ions, and the presence or absence of terminal phosphate residues on the oligonucleotides. They also found that oligoadenylic acid alone, with a chainlength of six residues, was not retained on a hydroxyapatite column even at 4°, whereas poly-U was retained at all temperatures of melting, even at 70°, and complexes between oligoadenylic acid and poly-U were retained only up to the melting temperature. As the temperature gradually increased, each oligoadenylic acid-poly-U complex melted, whereupon the labelled oligoadenylic acid was released from the column without the concomitant release of poly-U. Furthermore, the position of elution and width of the peak were independent of the flow-rate in the range 20-120 ml/h. Niyogi and Thomas⁵⁹ claimed that thermal chromatography is a sensitive and convenient means of estimating the thermal stability of trace amounts of labelled oligoadenylic acid-poly-U complexes. It seems to us that the present procedure could be applicable to other equivalent polynucleotide systems. These studies revealed that (i) oligonucleotides with a 5'-phosphate terminal group formed the stable complexes with polynucleotides, (ii) oligonucleotides with a 2'- or 3'-phosphate terminal group reduced the stability of the complex formed with polynucleotides and (iii) the stability was reduced still further especially when the oligoadenylic acid had shorter chainlengths.

(ii) Guanylic acid polymers. While exploiting the advantages of hydroxy-apatite columns in the fractionation of guanylic acid polymers, it was found that copolymers that contained high molar percentage of G+C had relatively low affinities towards the column. As a result, the molar percentage of G+C decreased in the fractions eluted with increasing molarity of phosphate buffer. It was also found that when large amounts of poly-r (G+C) were used, the recovery was better when several small columns were employed rather than a single large column⁹⁰.

For the sake of convenience, the chromatographic behaviour of different polyribonucleotides under various operating conditions on hydroxyapatite columns is summarized in Table 1.

The requirement of a low molarity of elution of poly-U and polycytidylic acid (poly-C) at 27° and the need for an increased molarity of elution at 4° is consistent with the principles of thermal chromatography⁶³,⁸⁹.

The fact that polypurinic acids (poly-A, poly-I, etc.) were eluted at higher molarities and with low recoveries indicated their firm binding on hydroxyapatite, in contrast to the polypyrimidinic acids (poly-U, poly-C), which were eluted at lower molarities and with quantitative recoveries. This observation supports the view that if all variables were constant, fractionation into two molecular species could occur on the basis of differences in average base composition. However, such a case of theoretical similarity, as found with synthetic polynucleotides, rarely occurs in nature.

3. MODIFICATIONS AND ALTERNATIVES

A. Modifications

The separation of different species of nucleic acids on hydroxyapatite columns

is generally achieved by employing a linear gradient of phosphate buffer at room temperature and it usually results in reproducible separations with reasonable recoveries. However, with this general approach, in certain instances a desired species of nucleic acid could not be purified from other contaminants, and it was proposed that modifications to hydroxyapatite chromatography might lead to better and more extensive resolutions.

Several modifications, such as (a) the change from a column procedure to batchwise operation⁶⁴. (b) the employment of stepwise elution instead of gradient elution¹², (c) the change in the cations of the phosphate buffers from Na⁺ to K⁺ (ref. 94), (d) the addition of new cations (Mg²⁺, Cs⁺, etc.) to the phosphate gradient^{89,95} and (e) the addition of organic solvents such as formamide, urea and EDTA^{30,88,90} to the eluting agents, were introduced. Using a batchwise procedure and centrifugation with a differential molarity of phosphate buffer, bacterial RNA could be separated from DNA⁹⁶. However, some of the procedures were laborious and none of them gave superior or even equal resolutions in comparison with the general procedure.

As hydroxyapatite is an inorganic gel and physico-chemically highly stable at elevated temperatures, a modification was introduced by Miyazawa and Thomas⁶³ and thermal chromatography (increasing temperature gradient) was developed. The concept underlying this approach was to melt certain fractions of DNAs selectively, depending upon their base composition and to some extent upon their three-dimensional conformation (degree of base stacking), and to elute them. At high temperature, the elution molarity of dsDNA decreased sharply, as anticipated. In spite of a decrease in the elution molarity, DNA became more firmly bound to the column and the thermal stability was further increased despite the reduction in the ionic strength of the buffer⁶². This often resulted in dsDNA being eluted without being denatured (melted) as the thermal chromatography proceeded⁹⁵. Taking this drawback of hydroxyapatite chromatography into consideration, the following modifications were developed.

(a) Elution at 18° in the presence of organic solvents

The first modification was introduced by Isaenko and Aksel rod⁹⁷, involving elution of RNAs at 18 using a 0.05-0.20 M phosphate buffer gradient containing 0.1% of methanol plus 0.1% of chloroform. Thus, by exploiting another exclusive characteristic of hydroxyapatite (resistance to organic solvents), fractionation of 90% pure valyl-tRNA_I from bakers yeast was possible. In our opinion, several other non-corrosive organic solvents could be used and even at a higher concentration, as high as 10%, in order to achieve better resolution, keeping other variables (particularly the flow-rate) constant.

(b) Elation at lower temperature in the presence of perchlorate

Graham⁹⁸ observed that the addition of 7.2 M sodium perchlorate to a low concentration of phosphate buffer allowed the elution to be carried out at much lower temperatures. Thus, the range of dissociation temperatures (T_m) could be reduced by the presence of perchlorate, which in turn facilitated the elution of a melted sequence of nucleic acids at lower phosphate concentration and thus might remove the drawback observed earlier in thermal chromatography⁶³. The validity of this modification

stood the test during the enrichment of G + C-rich satellite DNA from Bermuda land crab (Gecarcinus lateralis). However, in our opinion, at such a high concentration of perchlorate, some degree of apurinisation would probably occur.

(c) Elution at room temperature in the presence of 50° formamide

Recently, a modification has been suggested in which hydroxyapatite chromatography is carried out at room temperature with an elution buffer containing 50% formamide⁹⁹. This procedure proved useful for (a) separating ssDNA, dsDNA and RNA-DNA hybrid from each other and (b) studying the kinetic analysis of RNA-DNA hybridization at room temperature. The results obtained by this procedure were comparable with those obtained at elevated temperature or those obtained by equilibrium centrifugation in caesium sulphate gradients. Notable features of this procedure are that the use of 50% formamide in the elution buffer obviated the need for elevated temperatures, eliminated non-specific hydrogen binding, abolished the risk of cleavage of phosphodiester bonds in RNA at high temperatures and has retained the original simplicity and rapidity of the technique. Moreover, it is free from the obvious drawbacks of batchwise procedures⁶⁴.

(d) Elution at 37

A good compromise between low reaction rates at lower temperatures and the possibility of nucleic acid scission or depurination at higher temperatures is provided by carrying out separations at 37°. This modification¹⁰⁰ has the added advantage of the availability of temperature control at 37° in most laboratories. At this temperature, reaction rates might be augmented by an increase in ionic strength without calling for excessively high concentration of formamide, as used in the earlier method¹⁹.

B. Possible modification

Hydroxyapatite chromatography has been used to separate protein sub-units in the presence of sodium dodecyl sulphate (SDS), an idea borrowed from the polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis of proteins¹⁰¹. It is claimed that protein-SDS complexes exist as rod-like molecules and the lengths of the complexes are a function of molecular weight. In view of Kawasaki's recent theoretical considerations¹⁰²⁻¹⁰⁶, in our opinion it might be worthwhile to attempt to separate dsRNA from other nucleic acid species in the presence of SDS. SDS is expected to act in a similar manner to 7.0 M urea or 50% formamide used earlier in nucleic acid chromatography. As with proteins, SDS might facilitate the separation of different entities of nucleic acids by orienting them in a conformation that is repulsive to the hydroxyapatite bed.

C. Alternatives

In spite of several modifications of hydroxyapatite chromatography, it was considered necessary to develop alternate procedures that might result in clear, reproducible and extensive fractionation of nucleic acid species. All of the chromatographic procedures in current use¹⁻⁴ are based on a single principle. Reversed-phase chromatography is the only technique in which principles of counter-current distribution (CCD) and ion exchange are combined to our advantage. By experience, it has

been realized that reversed-phase chromatography gives superior resolutions that are not possible with the earlier techniques. On similar lines, Kirkegaard and co-workers¹⁰⁷⁻¹⁰⁸ introduced two techniques (see below) that might serve as alternatives to the use of hydroxyapatite columns.

(a) Ion-filtration chromatography

In this technique, the principles of ion exchange and gel filtration are combined to form a rapid and convenient technique for preparative purposes. The striking feature of this technique is that it affords simultaneous purification and concentration so that the resulting fraction could be used directly for further chromatographic purification without prior manipulations¹⁰⁷. Although the technique is presently applied for the purification of enzymes, it might be suitable for the fractionation of nucleic acids if the operating conditions used in modified cellulose chromatography^{2,3} and DEAE-Sephadex A-50 chromatography¹⁰⁹ are adopted.

(b) Intervant dilution chromatography

In this technique, the principles of adsorption and molecular sieve separation are combined and it is useful for the selective or complete dissociation and separation of biological complexes such as RNA-protein, DNA-histones and RNA-DNA hybrids without destroying any of the conjugate (associated molecule). In this technique, the macromolecules that are usually polyfunctional entities (containing numerous ionic and non-ionic groups) are separated by adding low-molecular-weight substances that reduce the intermolecular binding strength and space out the species to be separated. Such substances are called "intervants" and hence the technique is called "intervant dilution chromatography" los.

While developing this technique, Kirkegaard and Agee¹⁰⁸ considered that current chromatographic procedures had limited applicability in the resolution of macromolecules that interact strongly with each other. They further noted that it was not always possible to alter the chromatographic environment that permitted the molecules to behave independently while retaining sufficient interaction with the stationary phase (adsorbent): ultimately, a point was reached where resolution was not feasible with these chromatographic procedures. However, it should be pointed out that this is not entirely so: there are at least two well documented cases where a biological complex (DNA–protein) has been separated either by stepwise elution¹¹⁰ or by increasing the salt concentration gradient¹³. As the histones or the associated acidic proteins are less strongly adsorbed by the adsorbent than DNA in the presence of high salt concentrations, the fractionation of DNA and protein has been achieved simultaneously in the case of buffalo liver deoxyribonucleoprotein¹¹⁰ and calf thymus nucleohistone¹³.

4. THEORETICAL CONSIDERATIONS

As pointed out by Bernardi¹³, most of the chromatographic separations on hydroxyapatite columns have been carried out under arbitrary experimental conditions, and a systematic examination of the parameters that affect the chromatographic behaviour of nucleic acids and a methodical study of the optimal conditions of resolution are lacking. Kawasaki and Bernardi¹¹¹ studied the optimal conditions for the

resolution of macromolecules of different sizes, and also studied the environmental factors that influence the chromatographic behaviour, such as dependence of the elution molarity on (a) length of the column, (b) slope of the gradient, (c) load of the adsorbate, (d) presence of other components on the column and (e) width of the peak.

Based on these studies and in the light of existing data, Kawasaki¹¹² proposed a theory for the chromatographic separations of rigid macromolecules on hydroxyapatite columns, with two assumptions: (a) instantaneous thermodynamic equilibrium between the adsorbed phase and solution could be brought about and (b) negligible longitudinal diffusion of macromolecules takes place. Under normal circumstances, at room temperature, perhaps both assumptions may be close to reality, but with an increasing thermal gradient neither the instantaneous attainment of thermodynamic equilibrium nor the avoidance of diffusion seems possible. As an extension of the above theory, the adsorption and elution of macromolecules were studied as a function of (a) phosphate concentration and (b) their position on the column¹¹³.

The applicability of the above theory has been considered for its validity under different theoretical conditions:

- (1) It is assumed that there are no mutual interactions among the adsorbed macromolecules¹⁰². With this assumption, the present theory may not be completely applicable as the molecular species undergoing separation may not be rod-like or elongated structures and might exert considerable interactions among themselves, although all species behave like a single molecule. The ideal example could be different isoacceptor species of the same tRNA from a single source. Furthermore, this theory has the greatest limitation that no experimental data are available.
- (2) It is assumed that the molecular species in the mixture to be separated have (a) the same chain length, but adsorption sites are distributed differently on the molecular surface and (b) different chain lengths, but the same adsorption energy per unit length. A common feature in both assumptions is that all of the macromolecules on the column have more or less the same diameter¹⁰³. This situation is suitable for the separation of tRNAs specific for different amino acids.
- (3) Mathematical relationships that express the behaviour of tropocollagen molecules may not be applicable to the separation of different types of either RNAs or DNAs, as the well defined tertiary structure assumed for a micro-heterogeneous model of tropocollagen might not be valid for the tertiary structure of nucleic acids¹⁰⁴, ¹⁰⁵, ¹¹⁴.
- (4) The theory developed in (2) above is extended to a very general case in which both the chain length and the adsorption energy per unit length need not be constant. With minimal assumptions, the order of preferential adsorption of different macromolecules on to the hydroxyapatite surface is considered¹⁰⁶. This theory may possibly be applicable to the separation of different nucleic acids for which a broad range of structural differences exists under one set of experimental conditions, for example, the separation of ssDNA from renatured DNA, RNA-DNA hybrid, excess RNA, etc.

5. ADVANTAGES AND LIMITATIONS

A. Advantages

Hydroxyapatite can be used for both analytical and preparative purposes, as

it is claimed¹⁶ that it has the potential for handling widely varying amounts of nucleic acids in the range 0.001–2000 μg . It has an even higher capacity for tRNA per gram and therefore could be employed for preparative purposes¹⁷. In fact, preparative hydroxyapatite chromatography has been developed for the characterization of RNA synthesized by isolated nuclei from bovine thymus¹¹⁵. It separates viral RNA without loss of infectivity and tRNA independent of aminoacylation.

When the separation is incomplete on smaller columns or when large amounts of samples have to be handled (especially during preparative work), the use of longer columns (constant diameter and constant experimental variables) and shallower gradients of phosphate buffer is useful in overcoming the difficulty^{11,23,116}. Shallow and linear concentration gradients gave good resolutions of tRNAs and ten void volumes of the buffer were sufficient to elute all tRNAs present on the column²³.

It affords distinct and quantitative separations of ssDNA from dsDNA with a consistent elution pattern which is relatively insensitive to the size of the DNA molecules¹⁵. Our present knowledge of hybrid separation could be derived from the separation of dsDNA.

A useful operational asset of this column is that it neither entraps air nor gives rise to channelling, even if by oversight the column happened to remain dry for several hours¹¹⁷.

As it is an inorganic and crystalline adsorbent, it possesses intrinsic physicochemical stability and inertness towards (a) alterations in temperature up to slightly above 100° and (b) a wide range of organic solvents. Because of these two characteristics, several modifications have been possible with hydroxyapatite chromatography.

It is claimed that comparison of experimental results obtained with columns of different sizes is possible only with hydroxyapatite chromatography³³. For this, one simply has to express the volumes of eluting buffers as multiples of the void volume of the columns: the void volume (*i.e.*, the volume of the mobile phase in the column) is equal to 70% of the geometrical volume of the column³³.

The elution profiles obtained with TMV RNA hydrolyzed with RNAse T_1 demonstrated that hydroxyapatite was superior to DEAE-Sephadex chromatography for the distinct resolution of larger oligomers using 0.001-0.2 M phosphate buffer (pH 6.8) in 7.0 M urea¹¹⁸.

Since the basis of resolution on hydroxyapatite column seems to depend upon properties other than those which determine partition coefficients, this technique is useful as an adjunct to counter-current distribution and partition chromatography³².

Finally, hydroxyapatite chromatography also serves as a complementary technique to density gradient centrifugation with a positive advantage over it that like the latter, it is neither a time consuming technique nor requires any sophisticated expensive equipment or costly reagents.

B. Limitations

Some of the limitations of this technique have already been discussed by Walker¹¹⁹

Although hydroxyapatite chromatography seems to be a simple and easy method of fractionation and does not require expensive equipment or reagents, it is less frequently used than it should be. This is largely because hydroxyapatite is prepared under empirical conditions, which are often critical, and the whole procedure needs considerable familiarity. The preparation itself is laborious and not completely standardized and therefore it may not be possible to prepare the adsorbent repeatedly with comparable chromatographic characteristics^{6,17,120}. However, it is claimed that by introducing certain modifications during the preparation, the difficulties in preparing hydroxyapatite with the desired properties have been partially overcome¹⁷. Also, the attainment of equilibrium on hydroxyapatite is a very slow process and the column requires prolonged washing with phosphate buffer of low molarity, and the regeneration procedure is therefore time consuming¹¹⁷.

Although chromatography and rechromatography are claimed to be successful¹²¹, sometimes variations in individual batches of hydroxyapatite require adjustment of the experimental conditions, as different batches have different capacities for the retention of nucleic acids¹⁶. Therefore, the initial and final concentrations of the phosphate buffers to be used in the gradient must be pre-determined for each batch of the hydroxyapatite in order to obtain reproducibility in the elution patterns^{23,50,122}.

One must maintain the ratio of adsorbate loaded to the amount of adsorbent constant, as the molarity of elution decreasses as the load ratio increases⁴⁵. Because of this variation, experimental complications could arise simply because of the availability of only a limited amount of sample for analysis. The importance of the ratio of the adsorbate loaded to the amount of adsorbent was also emphasized by Bernardi⁴⁷. He observed peaks of DNA whose relative heights could be altered by varying the amount of adsorbent, and concluded that fractionation might have been guided by the ratio of load to hydroxyapatite bed.

Aggregated DNA samples showed elution patterns different from the normal pattern. Furthermore, individual fractions thus obtained could not be eluted at the same location with the same height on the chromatogram¹²³, which could create confusion and lead to erroneous conclusions. Discrepancies in the elution pattern during chromatography and rechromatography on hydroxyapatite column are not unusual, because the individual species might become disaggregated owing to passage through the column (during chromatography) and hence behave in a different manner to the originally aggregated species (during rechromatography).

Mattson *et al.*¹²⁴, as quoted by Larsen¹²⁵, found that hydroxyapatite behaved like an amphoteric colloid and its isoelectric point varied from 6.5–10.2, which might sometimes adversely affect the reproducibility of the elution patterns.

Pearson and Kelmers²² found that hydroxyapatite prepared by Levin's method¹¹⁷ and obtained from Bio-Rad Labs. (Richmond, Calif., U.S.A.) yielded a satisfactory resolution, whereas Hypatite C (Clarkson Chemical Co., Williamsport, Pa., U.S.A. and hydroxyapatite-cellulose (Gallard-Schlesinger Chemicals, Carle Place, N.Y., U.S.A.) gave little or no resolution of tRNAs. In their opinion, differences in ability to resolve tRNA could be attributed to differences in the surface area of the hydroxyapatite crystals. The differences in elution patterns, due either to a change in the batch of the adsorbent or to a change in the manufacturing agency, could perhaps be partially explained as above. However, it is still not understood why, when analyzing the same preparation of tRNA using the same batch of the adsorbent, one should obtain irreproducible results. Schofield³⁷ found that the chromatography of purified tRNA on hydroxyapatite sometimes generated spurious multiple peaks of amino acid acceptor activity, for unknown reasons.

The use of tightly packed or old columns resulted in poor recoveries and very slow flow-rates. Furthermore, with recoveries ranging between 70 and 95%, it is doubtful if the column could separate as little as 0.5 µg of DNA, as claimed14. Any attempt to improve the flow-rate by increasing the pressure caused a further decrease in flow-rate and even lower recoveries. It is suggested that the poor recovery is due to aggregation upon denaturation, owing to non-specific intermolecular base pairing or to interactions between the phosphate of nucleic acid and amino groups of the residual protein associate with nucleic acid126. In early work, the Celite used to enhance the flow-rate of hydroxyapatite caused undesirable adsorption117. We recommend that "fines" should be removed liberally and repeatedly and that Whatman CF-11 cellulose should be added to "fine-free" hydroxyapatite in the ratio of 1:2 (w/w) in order to obtain satisfactory flow-rates. Such precautionary measures give appreciably higher flow-rates without the application of pressure and without impairment in the resolving ability of hydroxyapatite. During the regeneration of the column, if hydroxyapatite is carefully suspended in the desired buffer and if vigorous agitation is avoided, the breakdown of hydroxyapatite crystals can be prevented, which enables the same flow-rate to be maintained in further experiments. Incidentally, it should be noted that hydroxyapatite gives a higher flow-rate than brushite.

Variations in the pH of the buffer altered the requirements of the volume and concentration of the buffer necessary for complete clution³³, e.g., at pH 5.4, as tRNAs are more firmly bound, larger volumes of buffer of higher concentration are required for complete elution. However, the reverse is the case at pH 7.8, where tRNAs are moderately bound. Moreover, although firm adsorption was facilitated at pH 5.8, it did not enhance the resolution.

The elution profiles obtained with TMV RNA hydrolyzed with RNAse T_1 demonstrated that the technique was inferior to DEAE-Sephadex chromatography for the resolution of short oligomers using 0.001-0.20 M phosphate buffer (pH 6.8) in 7.0 M urea¹¹⁸.

6. BASIS OF ADSORPTION AND RESOLUTION

Most of our knowledge as regards the mechanism of adsorption on and elution from the hydroxyapatite column is derived from the separation of DNAs.

Most of the separations performed on hydroxyapatite columns were carried out under empirically chosen conditions until Martinson^{19,62,95,127} attempted to establish certain principles that had previously been only partly appreciated. The analysis of RNA-DNA hybridization mixture revealed that the mode of separation on hydroxyapatite columns is considerably more complex than had generally been recognized⁶².

The chromatographic behaviour of different nucleic acid molecules has provided useful information on the relationship between macromolecular conformation and elution molarities and has also been useful in the elucidation of the possible mechanism of adsorption-elution on hydroxyapatite columns.

A. Adsorption

(a) Basis of adsorption

The non-retainability of purine and pyrimidine bases and nucleosides of ribose

and deoxyribose series³⁰, the slight retardation of mononucleotides of both series³⁰, the moderate retention of nucleoside polyphosphates³⁰, the easy elution of oligonucleotides and partial digests of RNA by pancreatic RNAse^{25,30}, the limited digest of DNA by DNAse^{13,128}, the relatively lower affinity of sonicated or high-speed-sheared nucleic acids towards hydroxyapatite^{25,120}, the elutability of heat-denatured or formaldehyde-denatured DNA at comparatively low molarities of phosphate buffer¹³ and the firm retention of tRNA⁴⁴, rRNA⁵³, viral RNA⁵⁴, dsRNA⁶⁰, RNA-DNA hybrid⁷², dsDNA and partially annealed DNA⁴⁷ indicate that although molecular size may not be a primary factor in adsorption, a finite three-dimensional macro-molecular conformation is a prerequisite for adsorption on the hydroxyapatite column.

(b) Mechanism of adsorption

The studies of the adsorption-elution response of different nucleic acids and their degradation products as a function of structure showed that the main factor involved in the adsorption of nucleic acids on hydroxyapatite columns was the interaction between the negatively charged phosphate groups of the nucleic acids and the positively charged Ca²⁺ ions from the surface of the hydroxyapatite crystals with no direct involvement of either the sugar moiety or bases¹³. This conclusion is supported further by the following observations:

- (1) phosphoproteins and nucleotides have a higher affinity for hydroxyapatite than non-phosphorvlated proteins and nucleosides³⁰:
- (2) the presence of chelating agents decreases considerably the capacity of hydroxyapatite for retaining nucleic acids, which indicates competition between the chelating agent and nucleic acids for Ca²⁺ ions²³; and
- (3) the elution of nucleoside mono-, di- and triphosphate occurs in the order of increasing number of phosphate groups in the molecule.

(c) Relationship between conformation and strength of adsorption

It has been found that an increase in both the length and three-dimensional structure in single-stranded nucleic acids gave rise to a greater affinity for hydroxyapatite; also, the base pairing and base stacking interactions within the strands increased their strength of binding on hydroxyapatite¹²⁷. In general, hydroxyapatite showed a greater affinity for adsorption towards rigid and ordered structures than towards flexible and disordered structures^{25,120,129,130}. However, Soave et al.²⁸ recently reported that a flexible molecule is more firmly adsorbed because of its ability to conform to the adsorbing surface. They have further proposed that the separation of rigid from flexible molecular species takes place on the basis of a net loss in the conformational entropy of the macromolecular species during adsorption. Martinson also arrived at the same conclusion¹²⁷.

(d) Factors affecting adsorption

The presence of some cations severely depressed the adsorption affinity of DNA towards hydroxyapatite⁹⁵, and their presence in the elution buffer increased the power of elution in the order $Mg^{2+} < Na^+ < K^+ < Cs^+$. This observation is in contrast to a general finding that an increase in Mg^{2+} concentration facilitated the retention of nucleic acid species on other chromatographic systems^{131,132}.

The degree of ionization of phosphate ions seemed to control the adsorption

of nucleic acids on hydroxyapatite¹²⁸. Chromatography of a number of water-soluble synthetic homo- and heteropolypeptides on hydroxyapatite columns showed that only those polypeptides which contained accessible carboxyl groups (such as in poly-L-aspartate, poly-L-glutamate and their copolymers) were adsorbed¹²⁰. It seemed most likely that carboxyl groups had taken the role of phosphate groups, which was found to be necessary for the firm retention of phosphoproteins¹²⁹ and nucleic acids¹³⁰. Denaturation of these synthetic polypeptides or nucleic acids reduced their affinity for adsorption, probably owing to a reduction in the number of carboxyl and phosphate groups available on the surface for the interaction with the adsorbent.

B Flution

(a) Stepwise versus gradient elution

Both stepwise and gradient elution have been used for the resolution of nucleic acid species on hydroxyapatite columns. However, stepwise elution is not preferred as it gives false peaks at the point of change in molarity and results in inferior resolution in comparison with that obtained by gradient elution.

(b) Choice of eluting agents

The main criterion that any eluent has to satisfy is that it should not bring about significant changes in the physico-chemical and biological characteristics of the molecule during elution. This criterion rules out the use of strong acids and alkalis, oxidizing and corrosive agents, and complex-forming (chelating) agents such as EDTA. fluoride, citrate and tartrate. Chelating agents have a greater affinity for Ca²⁺ ions of the hydroxyapatite and therefore their use would indiscriminately elute anything present on the column. It was found that 30 µmole of sodium citrate drastically reduced the affinity of even bacteriophage DNAs towards hydroxyapatite²³.

The eluents used should have an appreciable buffering capacity, should facilitate solubilization of nucleic acids and yet remain harmless. Phosphate buffers satisfy all of the criteria required for an ideal eluent. Of the widely used phosphate buffers, potassium phosphate buffer has been reported to be more effective than its sodium counterpart as an eluent, possibly owing to the higher degree of ionization of K⁻ ions. Therefore, K⁻ buffers have a greater eluting power than Na⁻ buffers at comparable molarities. The elution molarity, therefore, varied if K⁻ or Na⁻ buffers were used⁹⁴.

(c) Choice of pH

As hydroxyapatite is more stable at pH levels above 5.0, the buffers used could be in the pH range 5.4–7.8. However, as tRNAs are stable and firmly retained on the hydroxyapatite column between pH 5.4 and 5.8, this pH range would seem to be ideal for the fractionation of tRNA. The arbitrary choice of pH 6.8 for the fractionation of different types of DNAs seems to have resulted in partial resolution.

(d) Means of elution

The application of a temperature gradient with or without a simultaneous gradient of pH or salt concentration yields a resolution superior to that when room temperature is used. An increase in temperature decreases the strength of adsorption by affecting the secondary structure of the adsorbate and by accelerating the degree

of ionization of the eluting phosphate buffer. These factors, either alone or together, reduce the affinity of nucleic acids for hydroxyapatite to the point of selective elution. In thermal chromatography, separations can be achieved on any scale (analytical or preparative) provided that the width of the column is kept within limits that permit rapid thermal equilibrium¹³³.

(e) Mechanism of elution

The decrease in the adsorbing forces appears to be due to specific competition between phosphate ions in the eluent and the phosphate groups of the polynucleotides for Ca^{2+} sites on hydroxyapatite, and not simply to an increase in ionic strength. Thus, increasing the molarity of the eluting phosphate buffer progressively reduces the forces responsible for retaining the binding strength between the adsorbent and an adsorbate. Eventually, at a particular concentration of phosphate buffer, the already unstable and ever weakening forces collapse, at which point a gradual shift in the R_F value from zero to unity is completed, resulting in elution.

Strong indirect evidences which indicate that slight changes in the secondary and tertiary structures underly the basis of separation of RNAs and DNAs on hydroxyapatite columns are summarized below.

(i) Effect of partial depolymerization. Oligouridylic acid with an average chainlength of 25 residues and a partial digest of different strains of TMV RNA by RNAse T_1 in the presence or absence of 7.0 M urea exhibited a substantial loss of affinity towards the column¹³⁴ in comparison with the intact molecule⁵³.

The early elution of the limited digest of DNA, sonicated fragments and high-speed-sheared DNA support the view that conformation plays a definite role in determining the sequence of elution, as all of the above treatments cause significant modification(s) in the secondary structure.

Only a moderate degree of fractionation is obtained with an artificial mixture of polymerized and partially depolymerized DNA¹²⁸. In this instance it would appear as if fractionation is a function of the displacement of shorter fragments by the longer fragments by virtue of their hydrodynamic volume (which, in turn, is a reflection of overall conformation). The partial separation of bacteriophage T₂ DNA (glucosylated) from *E. coli* DNA (non-glucosylated) suggested that the hydrodynamic volume possibly contributes to the sequence of elution. Whether the hydroxymethylcytosine (HMC) residues play a role in separation is still not known.

- (ii) Effect of differences in base composition. The fractionation of DNAs and sonicated fragments from phage T_2 , T_5 , λ , E, coli and Haemophilus influenzae, using a temperature gradient showed that fractionation took place on the basis of differences in average base composition; fractions eluted at high temperature (high T_m) exhibited a proportionately higher percentage mole fraction of G C (ref. 63). DNA rich in G + C showed a lower affinity at room temperature than DNA poor in G C (ref. 19). These observations indicated that hydroxyapatite is sensitive to differences in base composition if it also reflects differences in secondary structure. However, differences in the percentage of G C alone do not distinguish the molecular species of nucleic acids¹⁴.
- (iii) Effect of molecular size. The separation of phage T even DNA (55-58S) from E. coli DNA (40S) and the elution of sheared and unsheared DNA from phage T_4 at almost the same point indicated that molecular size (molecular weight) might

not be a major factor controlling the separation pattern¹⁴. This is further substantiated by the finding that active and inactive forms of tryptophanyl-tRNA could be distinguished on the hydroxyapatite column⁴², 135.

In the case of single-stranded nucleic acids, however, both molecular size and overall conformation affect the molarity of elution¹²⁷. This is supported by the observation that TMV RNA was eluted before DNA from *B. subtilis* at 10° because of its small size, but nevertheless was cluted later than *B. subtilis* DNA at 45°, because of the greater importance of structural differences at higher temperatures. From the above finding, one may conclude that at higher temperatures and low salt concentrations, single-stranded nucleic acids are devoid of ordered structure; conversely, single-stranded nucleic acids exhibit a highly ordered structure at low temperatures and high salt concentrations.

(f) Physical characteristics related to elution pattern

The twisted circular DNA from polyoma virus could be eluted at a lower molarity than the linear open or circular forms of the same DNA, which were eluted at the same molarity^{136,127}. The mitochondrial DNA from wild strains and cytoplasmic "petite" mutants of yeast were eluted at higher concentration than their nuclear counterparts¹³⁸. Single-stranded DNA preparations from phage Φ X174, phage T₂ and denatured DNA were eluted at lower molarities than native dsDNA and completely annealed DNA, indicating that limited fractionation might occur on the basis of molecular weight. At the same time, it provided evidence that hydroxyapatite distinguished DNAs by virtue of differences in their secondary structures^{47,126,139}. This was further supported by two independent studies: (a) rapidly renaturing and slowly renaturing DNAs of rat liver could be separated by differential adsorption at 70 (ref. 140) and (b) a triple-stranded structure (2-poly-U-poly-A) was eluted at a molarity higher than that required for dsDNA.

Finally, according to Martinson¹⁹, variations in the interaction of nucleic acid with hydroxyapatite, the charge densities of nucleic acids per unit length, the distribution of phosphate on nucleic acids and the redistribution of ions and water molecules during the adsorption of different nucleic acids are of minor importance when one considers the mechanism of adsorption and elution.

7. ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The authors express their gratitude and thanks to Dr. M. W. Taylor, Department of Microbiology, Indiana University, Bloomington, Ind. 47401, U.S.A., for critical suggestions during the preparation of this manuscript.

8. SUMMARY

Hydroxyapatite column chromatography has provided a sensitive and powerful technique for the fractionation of nucleic acid species. Because of the widely differing molarities of elution, dsDNA, RNA-DNA hybrids and dsRNA could be separated from single-stranded RNAs, deliberately denatured DNAs and native ssDNA by either stepwise or gradient elution, in the presence or absence of formaldehyde, at room temperature or with a temperature gradient, at constant or different molarities, or by a combination of more than one of these factors. As hydroxyapatite is a

physico-chemically stable inorganic adsorbent, it has afforded many modifications for improving resolutions by the use of increased temperatures or by permitting the use of organic solvents in the eluents; modifications of this type are unique to hydroxyapatite alone.

Because of the high capacity (24 mg of tRNA/per square centimetre of the column bed) and the high recoveries (90%), hydroxyapatite columns offer a suitable analytical and also a preparative means for the fractionation of labelled aminoacyltRNAs at room temperature by using a gradient of potassium phosphate buffer (pH 5.4). Because of its increasing use in the separation of DNAs, RNA-DNA hybrids and tRNAs, it has provided ample experimental data for theoretical aspects to be considered, from which it will be possible to predict the chromatographic characteristics of certain molecules under fixed experimental conditions. Although it has several operational advantages, the inherent drawbacks introduced during its preparation often make it difficult to obtain good flow-rates, reproducible resolution patterns, etc. Randomly coiled polynucleotides are eluted at lower molarities than rigid. helical polynucleotides; moreover, factors that are capable of altering the conformation (such as changes in temperature or ionic strength or the presence of certain cations and organic solvents) determine the sequence of elution on hydroxyapatite columns. If conformational differences are negligible and other variables are constant, a hydroxyapatite column distinguishes nucleic acid molecules to a limited extent by virtue of differences either in their molecular size or in the base composition.

REFERENCES

- 1 R. M. Kothari and M. W. Taylor, J. Chromatogr., 73 (1972) 449.
- 2 R. M. Kothari and M. W. Taylor, J. Chromatogr., 73 (1972) 463.
- 3 R. M. Kothari and M. W. Taylor, J. Chromatogr., 73 (1972) 479.
- 4 R. M. Kothari, V. Shankar and M. W. Taylor, J. Chromatogr., 70 (1972) 341.
- 5 R. M. Kothari and M. W. Taylor, J. Chromatogr., 86 (1973) 289.
- 6 R. M. Kothari, Chromatogr. Rev., 12 (1970) 127.
- 7 S. Nishimura and I. B. Weinstein, Biochemistry, 8 (1969) 832.
- 8 S. P. Colowick, Methods Enzymol., 1 (1955) 90.
- 9 G. Bernardi, Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 53 (1961) 216.
- 10 A. Tiselius, S. Hjertén and Ö. Levin, Arch. Biochem. Biophys., 65 (1956) 132.
- 11 G. Semenza, Ark. Kemi, 11 (1957) 89.
- 12 R. K. Main and L. J. Cole, Arch. Biochem. Biophys., 68 (1957) 186.
- 13 G. Bernardi, Methods Enzymol., 21 (1971) 95.
- 14 M. Oishi, Methods Enzymol., 21 (1971) 140.
- 15 M. Oishi, Methods Enzymol., 21 (1971) 304.
- 16 D. E. Kohne and R. J. Britten, Procedures Nucleic Acid Res., 2 (1971) 500.
- 17 K. H. Muench, Procedures Nucleic Acid Res., 2 (1971) 515.
- 18 E. Stutz and G. Bernardi, Biochimie, 54 (1972) 1013.
- 19 H. G. Martinson, Biochemistry, 12 (1973) 2737.
- 20 F. De Lorenzo and B. N. Ames, J. Biol. Chem., 245 (1970) 1710.
- 21 H. W. Siegelman, G. A. Wieczorek and B. C. Turner, Anal. Biochem., 13 (1965) 402.
- 22 R. L. Pearson and A. D. Kelmers, J. Biol. Chem., 241 (1966) 767.
- 23 M. Oishi, J. Bacteriol., 98 (1969) 104.
- 24 P. Doty, H. Boedtker, J. R. Fresco, R. Haselkorn and M. Litt, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S., 45 (1959) 482.
- 25 G. Bernardi, Nature (London), 206 (1965) 779.
- 26 J. A. A. Gardner and M. B. Hoagland, J. Biol. Chem., 243 (1968) 10.
- 27 C. Soave, E. Galante and G. Torti, Bull. Soc. Chim. Biol., 52 (1970) 857.
- 28 C. Soave, R. Nucca, E. Sala, A. Viotti and E. Galante, Eur. J. Biochem., 32 (1973) 392.

- 29 R. A. Walters, L. R. Gurley, A. G. Saponara and M. D. Enger, *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*, 199 (1970) 525.
- 30 G. Bernardi, Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 174 (1969) 449.
- 31 G. Dirheimer, Bull. Soc. Chim. Biol., 50 (1968) 1221.
- 32 K. H. Muench and P. Berg, Biochemistry, 5 (1966) 982.
- 33 A. Zimmer and G. R. Hartmann, Bull. Soc. Chim. Biol., 52 (1970) 867.
- 34 R. Giege, J. Heinrich, J. H. Weil and J. P. Ebel, Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 174 (1969) 43.
- 35 G. Hartmann and U. Coy, Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 47 (1961) 612.
- 36 U. Harding, H. Schauer and G. Hartmann, Biochem. Z., 346 (1966) 212.
- 37 P. Schofield, Biochemistry, 9 (1970) 1694.
- 38 K. H. Muench, Fed. Proc., Fed. Amer. Soc. Exp. Biol., 24 (1965) 482.
- 39 M. Yaniv and F. Gros, J. Mol. Biol., 44 (1969) 1.
- 40 K. H. Muench, Biochemistry, 8 (1969) 4872.
- 41 K. H. Muench, Biochemistry, 8 (1969) 4880.
- 42 K. H. Muench, Cold Spring Harbor Symp. Quant. Biol., 31 (1966) 539.
- 43 K. H. Muench and P. A. Safille, Biochemistry, 7 (1968) 2799.
- 44 D. R. Joseph and K. H. Muench, J. Biol. Chem., 246 (1971) 7602.
- 45 A. T. H. Burness and A. D. Vizoso, Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 49 (1961) 225.
- 46 G. Bernardi and S. N. Timasheff, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., 6 (1961) 58.
- 47 G. Bernardi, Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 174 (1969) 423.
- 48 F. Brown, J. F. E. Newman and D. L. Stewart, Nature (London), 197 (1963) 590.
- 49 L. Pinck, Bull. Soc. Chim. Biol., 52 (1970) 843.
- 50 A. T. Leffler, II, E. Creskoff, S. W. Luborsky, V. McFarland and P. T. Mora, J. Mol. Biol., 48 (1970) 455.
- 51 R. M. Franklin, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S., 55 (1966) 1504.
- 52 N. Sueoka and Ts'Al-Ying Cheng, J. Mol. Biol., 4 (1962) 161.
- 53 L. Pinck, L. Hirth and G. Bernardi, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., 31 (1968) 481.
- 54 A. D. Vizoso and A. T. H. Burness, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., 2 (1960) 102.
- 55 P. C. Cheo, B. S. Friesen and R. L. Sinsheimer, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S., 45 (1959) 305.
- 56 D. R. Black and C. A. Knight, J. Virol., 6 (1970) 194.
- 57 J. M. Bishop, G. Koch and L. Levintow, in J. S. Colter and W. Paranchych (Editors), The Molecular Biology of Viruses, Academic Press, New York, 1967, p. 355.
- 58 L. E. Bockstahler, Mol. Gen. Genet., 100 (1967) 337.
- 59 D. H. L. Bishop, R. Ruprecht, R. W. Simpson and S. Spiegelman, J. Virol., 8 (1971) 730.
- 60 J. Kalmakoff and C. C. Payne, Anal. Biochem., 55 (1973) 26.
- 61 J. Kalmakoff, L. J. Lewandowski and D. R. Black, J. Virol., 4 (1969) 857.
- 62 H. G. Martinson, Biochemistry, 12 (1973) 139.
- 63 Y. Miyazawa and C. A. Thomas, J. Mol. Biol., 11 (1965) 223.
- 64 D. J. Brenner, G. R. Fanning, A. V. Rake and K. E. Johnson, Anal. Biochem., 28 (1969) 447.
- 65 E. T. Bolton and B. J. McCarthy, J. Mol. Biol., 8 (1964) 201.
- 66 D. Gillespie and S. Spiegelman, J. Mol. Biol., 12 (1965) 829.
- 67 J. L. Ryan and H. J. Morowitz, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S., 63 (1969) 1282.
- 68 H. Feldman, Hoppe-Scyler's Z. Physiol. Chem., 354 (1973) 189.
- 69 R. Ray and S. K. Dutta, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., 47 (1972) 1458.
- 70 W. Colli and M. Oishi, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S., 64 (1969) 642.
- 71 W. Colli and M. Oishi, J. Mol. Biol., 51 (1970) 657.
- 72 W. Colli, I. Smith and M. Oishi, J. Mol. Biol., 56 (1971) 117.
- 73 L. Grouse, M. D. Chilton and B. J. McCarthy, Biochemistry, 11 (1972) 798.
- 74 J. C. Siebke and T. Ekren, Eur. J. Biochem., 12 (1970) 380.
- 75 D. E. Kohne, Biophys. J., 8 (1968) 1104.
- 76 E. H. Davidson and B. R. Hough, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S., 63 (1969) 342.
- 77 B. L. McConaughty and B. J. McCarthy, Biochemistry, 11 (1972) 998.
- 78 W. M. Becker, A. Hell, J. Paul and R. Williamson, Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 199 (1970) 348.
- 79 U. E. Loening, Biochem. J., 102 (1967) 251.
- 80 W. G. Lanyon, J. Paul and R. Williamson, FEBS Lett., 1 (1968) 279.
- 81 L. F. Congote and D. Trachewsky, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., 46 (1972) 957.
- 82 I. Bekhor, J. Bonner and G. K. Dahmus, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S., 62 (1969) 271.
- 83 J. R. Greenberg and R. P. Perry, J. Mol. Biol., 72 (1972) 91.

- 84 R. M. Kothari and M. W. Taylor, unpublished results.
- 85 M. Green, H. Rokutanda and M. Rokutanda, Nature New Biol. (London), 230 (1971) 229.
- 86 D. K. Haapala and P. J. Fischinger, Science, 180 (1973) 972.
- 87 R. K. Main, M. J. Wilkins and L. J. Cole, J. Amer. Chem. Soc., 81 (1959) 6490.
- 88 T. Sugimura, N. Yoshimura, M. Miwa, H. Nagai and M. Nagao, Arch. Biochem. Biophys., 147 (1971) 660.
- 89 S. K. Niyogi and C. A. Thomas, Jr., J. Biol. Chem., 243 (1968) 1220.
- 90 M. Karstadt and J. S. Krakow, J. Biol. Chem., 245 (1970) 752.
- 91 E. G. Richards, C. P. Flessel and J. R. Fresco, Biopolymers, 1 (1965) 431.
- 92 M. N. Lipsett, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S., 46 (1960) 445.
- 93 M. Leng and G. Felsenfeld, J. Mol. Biol., 15 (1966) 455.
- 94 G. Bernardi, F. Carnevali, A. Nicolaieff, G. Piperno and G. Tecce, J. Mol. Biol., 37 (1968) 493.
- 95 H. G. Martinson, Biochemistry, 12 (1973) 145.
- 96 C. A. Thomas, Jr., C. I. Berns and T. J. Kelly, Jr., Procedures Nucleic Acid Res., 2 (1971) 535.
- 97 S. N. Isaenko and V. D. Aksel'rod, Biokhimiya, 36 (1971) 956.
- 98 D. E. Graham, Anal. Biochem., 36 (1970) 315.
- 99 N. C. Goodman, S. C. Gulati, R. Redfield and S. Spiegelman, Anal. Biochem., 52 (1973) 286.
- 100 B. L. McConaughty, C. D. Laird and B. J. McCarthy, Biochemistry, 8 (1969) 3289.
- 101 R. Moss and E. N. Rosenblum, J. Biol. Chem., 247 (1972) 5194.
- 102 T. Kawasaki, J. Chromatogr., 82 (1973) 167.
- 103 T. Kawasaki, J. Chromatogr., 82 (1973) 191.
- 104 T. Kawasaki, J. Chromatogr., 82 (1973) 219.
- 105 T. Kawasaki, J. Chromatogr., 82 (1973) 237.
- 106 T. Kawasaki, J. Chromatogr., 82 (1973) 241.
- 107 L. H. Kirkegaard, T. J. A. Johnson and R. M. Bock, Anal. Biochem., 50 (1972) 122.
- 108 L. Kirkegaard and C. C. Agee, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S., 70 (1973) 2424.
- 109 S. Nishimura, Procedures Nucleic Acid Res., 2 (1971) 542.
- 110 R. M. Kothari, J. Chromatogr., 56 (1971) 151.
- 111 T. Kawasaki and G. Bernardi, Biopolymers, 9 (1970) 257.
- 112 T. Kawasaki, *Biopolymers*, 9 (1970) 277.
- 113 T. Kawasaki, *Biopolymers*, 9 (1970) 291.
- 114 T. Kawasaki and G. Bernardi, Biopolymers, 9 (1970) 269.
- 115 D. T. Sullivan, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S., 59 (1968) 846.
- 116 I. Faulhaber and G. P. mardi, Biochim, Biophys, Acta, 140 (1967) 561.
- 117 Ö. Levin, Methods Enzymol., 5 (1962) 27.
- 118 K. W. Mundry, Bull. Soc. Chim. Biol., 52 (1970) 873.
- 119 P. M. B. Walker, Progr. Nucl. Acid Res. Mol. Biol., 9 (1969) 301.
- 120 G. Bernardi and T. Kawasaki, Biochim, Biophys, Acta, 160 (1968) 301.
- 121 P. M. B. Walker and A. McLaren, Nature (London), 208 (1965) 1175.
- 122 M. Oishi, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S., 60 (1968) 329.
- 123 G. Bernardi, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., 6 (1961) 54.
- 124 S. Mattson, E. K. Anderson, R. B. Miller and K. Vantras, Kgl. Lantbruks-Hogskol. Ann., 18 (1951) 128.
- 125 S. Larsen, Nature (London), 212 (1966) 212.
- 126 G. Bernardi, Biochim, Biophys. Acta, 174 (1969) 435.
- 127 H. G. Martinson, Biochemistry, 12 (1973) 2731.
- 128 G. Bernardi, Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 91 (1964) 686.
- 129 G. Bernardi and W. H. Cook, Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 44 (1960) 96.
- 130 M. R. Chevallier and G. Bernardi, J. Mol. Biol., 32 (1968) 437.
- 131 R. M. Kothari, J. Chromatogr., 64 (1972) 85.
- 132 V. Shankar, Ph.D. Thesis, Poona University, Poona, India, 1972.
- 133 A. Brzezinski, P. Szafranski, P. H. Johnson and M. Laskowski, Sr., Biochemistry, 8 (1969) 1228.
- 134 K. W. Mundry, Mol. Gen. Genet., 105 (1969) 361.
- 135 W. J. Gartland and N. Sueoka, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S., 55 (1966) 948.
- 136 P. Bourgaux and D. B. Ramoisy, J. Gen. Virol., 1 (1967) 323.
- 137 D. B. Ramoisy, N. Van Tieghem and P. Bourgaux, J. Gen. Virol., 1 (1967) 589.
- 138 G. Bernardi, M. Faures, G. Piperno and P. Slonimski, J. Mol. Biol., 48 (1970) 23.
- 139 G. Bernardi, Biochem. J., 83 (1962) 32 P.
- 140 M. Melli and J. O. Bishop, J. Mol. Biol., 40 (1969) 117.